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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

 Appellants respectfully request oral argument. This appeal presents issues of 

first impression in the Eleventh Circuit: can a corporation acquire a racial identity 

and be the direct target of racial discrimination for purposes of stating a claim 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and § 1985(3) in light of Village of Arlington Heights v. 

Metropolitan Housing Development Corp., 429 U.S. 252 (1977), where the U.S. 

Supreme Court explained that corporations have no racial identity and cannot be 

the direct target of racial discrimination? If so, were the contours of Appellee’s 

rights under those statutes so clearly established in the Eleventh Circuit at the 

relevant time that the individual county officials should lose their qualified 

immunity? 

Relying on authority from other jurisdictions, and failing to recognize that 

unsettled law is, by definition, not clearly established, the district court erroneously 

answered “yes” to both questions. Oral argument would allow the Court and the 

parties to explore these issues and the potentially wider impact of the district 

court’s ruling more fully. 
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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

 The district court had original jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 

§ 1367(a) because the action asserted federal claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and § 

1985(3). 

 This Court has appellate jurisdiction over the individual Appellants pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1291 because this is an appeal from an order denying qualified 

immunity, which was entered by the United States District Court for the Northern 

District of Georgia on August 25, 2021.  See Scott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 376 n.2 

(2007). 

 This Court has pendent appellate jurisdiction over Appellant DeKalb County 

because the claims against the County are inextricably intertwined with the claims 

against the individual Appellants. See White v. McKinley, 519 F.3d 806 (8th Cir. 

2008) (exercising pendent appellate jurisdiction over conspiracy claim on qualified 

immunity interlocutory appeal); Mendocino Env't Ctr. v. Mendocino Cty., 192 F.3d 

1283, 1297 (9th Cir. 1999) (same).  

 Appellants timely noticed this appeal on September 3, 2021, and Appellants 

timely file this brief in accordance with the Clerk’s docketing notice.  
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STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. As an issue of first impression in the Eleventh Circuit, can a 

corporation like Appellee Sheba Ethiopian Restaurant, Inc., acquire a racial 

identity and be the direct target of racial discrimination for purposes of stating a 

claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and § 1985(3) in light of Village of Arlington 

Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp., 429 U.S. 252 (1977), where 

the U.S. Supreme Court explained that corporations have no racial identity and 

cannot be the direct target of racial discrimination?  

2. If so, were Sheba’s rights under those statutes clearly established in 

the Eleventh Circuit at the relevant time such that the individual county officials 

should lose their qualified immunity? 

3. Would every reasonable public official know that 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) 

prohibits public officials from taking investigative and remedial action in response 

to citizens’ fact-based allegations of unlawful operations by an ethnic restaurant-

turned-nightclub, if such citizens display possible race or ethnic bias? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. NATURE OF THE CASE 

Appellee Sheba Ethiopian Restaurant, Inc., filed this lawsuit against DeKalb 

County and various County officials arising out of a series of inspections, citations, 

and administrative decisions concerning Sheba’s Ethiopian-themed restaurant-

turned-nightclub. In its first amended complaint, which is the subject of this 

appeal, Sheba does not directly challenge the validity of the citations or the 

administrative decisions because Sheba pleaded guilty to most of the citations in 

state magistrate court, and Sheba litigated the administrative decisions in state 

superior court, so preclusion principles prohibit Sheba from relitigating those 

issues here.  

Unable to contest the objective merits of the Appellants’ actions, this case 

focuses solely on the Appellants’ alleged motivation for taking them. Specifically, 

Sheba alleges that the County initiated the inspections based on discriminatory 

animus toward Sheba’s Ethiopian ethnicity in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981. Sheba 

also alleges that the County and the individual County officials conspired with 

local citizen Martha Gross to discriminate against Sheba based on race or ethnicity 

in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).  
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II. STATEMENT OF FACTS1 

Parties 

Appellee Sheba Ethiopian Restaurant, Inc., “is a closely-held corporation, 

owned and operated by Solomon Abebe, who is black and from Ethiopia.” 

(R[80]—¶ 3). Sheba operates an Ethiopian-themed restaurant-turned-nightclub at 

1594 Woodcliff Drive in DeKalb County. (Id.—¶¶ 1-3). Most of its customers are 

“Eastern-African nationals” and “African-American customers.” (Id.—¶ 45).  

Appellants are DeKalb County and its various officials, including 

Commissioners Jeff Rader and Kathie Gannon, Fire Marshal Joseph Cox, Fire 

Inspector John Jewett, and Planning Director Andrew Baker. (Id.—¶¶ 4-9).  

Although not a party to this lawsuit, Martha Gross is a DeKalb County 

resident who is active in community affairs and who led an effort to cripple 

Ethiopian restaurants based on racial animus. According to Sheba, Commissioner 

Rader directed county staff to carry out Gross’s wishes. (Id.—¶¶ 51, 121). 

 
1 Citations are to the district court docket number and page (R[x]—y), with x being the 

docket number and y being the page or paragraph number, where applicable. Volume numbers 
were not available at the time this brief was prepared. The factual record consists of the first 
amended complaint, R[80], and other judicially noticed documents, including the state court 
complaint with exhibits, R[26-1, 26-2], and the transcript of proceedings before the DeKalb 
County Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBA”). R[27-1]. The district court previously took judicial 
notice of the state court records without objection from Sheba. R[50] (“the Court takes judicial 
notice of the Superior Court records under Fed. R. Evid. 201(b) to adjudicate Defendants’ 
12(b)(6) motion to dismiss”). 
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Facts 

 In 1998, Sheba opened a restaurant that provided dining, alcoholic beverage 

service, musical entertainment, and customer dancing. (Id.—¶ 33). Sheba was 

licensed to serve alcohol until 3:55 a.m. on weekdays and until 2:55 a.m. on 

Saturdays and Sundays.2 (Id.—¶ 35).   

 In 2008, the County amended its zoning code to require “nightclubs” 

(defined as “a commercial establishment dispensing alcoholic beverages for 

consumption on the premises and in which dancing and musical entertainment is 

allowed, where music may be live, disc jockey, karaoke, and or non-acoustic”) and 

“late night establishments” (“LNE”) (defined as “any establishment licensed to 

dispense alcoholic beverages for consumption on the premises where the 

establishment is open for use by patrons beyond 12:30 a.m.”) to apply for a 

“Special Land Use Permit (SLUP)” if located within 1500 feet of the property line 

of a residential property line. (Id.—¶¶ 37-39). The ordinance allowed the County to 

“grandfather” legally existing businesses that fit either definition. (Id.). The County 

grandfathered Sheba as a LNE restaurant, but the County never grandfathered or 

otherwise recognized Sheba as a nightclub. 

 
2 Appellants note that Sunday alcohol sales were illegal in the State of Georgia until 

2012. See generally O.C.G.A. § 3-3-7 (authorizing local governments to allow Sunday alcohol 
sales in limited circumstances beginning in 2012).  
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 In 2015, Martha Gross publicly expressed on social media website Nextdoor 

her opposition to the continued operation of “6 Hookah bars, and 5 Ethiopian 

restaurants” that operate with late-night alcohol service near the intersection of 

Briarcliff and Clairmont Road. (Id. ¶ 51-52, 54). She indicated that Kathie Gannon 

was “trying to determine if there is anything we can LEGALLY do to rid this 

intersection of these noxious uses.” (Id. ¶ 55).  

 In 2016, the County “informally assembled a group of persons to operate as 

the ‘Late Night Task Force’” to “randomly select and order existing restaurants to 

complete a sworn “Letter of Entertainment.” (Id. ¶ 30). In December 2016, as part 

of its license renewal application, Sheba filled out a sworn “Letter of 

Entertainment” form as part of its license renewal application. (Id.—¶ 48).3 In the 

LOE, Abebe confirmed under oath that Sheba was still a “sit down restaurant” that 

“is open for use by patrons beyond 12:30 a.m.” and is not a nightclub: 

 

 
3 Although the LOE is not attached to the first amended complaint, the LOE is in the 

record (R[26-2—122) below and its contents are not in dispute, so this Court may consider the 
LOE at the 12(b)(6) stage. See Fin. Sec. Assurance, Inc. v. Stephens, Inc., 500 F.3d 1276, 1284 
(11th Cir. 2007) (holding that courts may look beyond complaint at 12(b)(6) stage where 
plaintiff refers to document and its contents are not in dispute).  
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(Id.—¶ 50); (R[26-2]—122). Abebe affirmed he understood that Sheba’s “building 

permit(s) and certificate(s) of occupancy … are conditioned on” Abebe’s answers 

to the preceding questions, and that Sheba’s certificates will be “null and void” if 

Sheba “change[s] the use of the establishment from the approved permitted use”: 

 

(R[26-2]—122). Based on Abebe’s representations, the County renewed Sheba’s 

status as a legal nonconforming LNE restaurant in 2016. (R[80]—¶ 50). 

 On the same day Abebe signed his LOE, a fire erupted at the “Ghost 

Ship”—an “illegally converted warehouse” used for electronic music dance parties 

in Oakland, California—killing 36 people and causing fire marshals across the 

country to step up inspections of illegally operating music venues. See generally 

Associated Press, Oakland agrees to settle lawsuit from Ghost Ship fire (Nov. 11, 

2020), https://apnews.com/article/lawsuits-oakland-fires-crime-

d2e4e272db0f2444f9b129b9743618e7. 
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 Beginning on December 29, 2016, fire inspectors and code enforcement 

inspectors began visiting Sheba. (Id.—¶ 56). During that first visit, “Jewett told 

Sheba’s manager that he was there to find a way to shut [Sheba] down.” (Id.—¶ 

57). On January 27, 2017, Jewett returned and issued citations for unpermitted 

construction (citation 026448), failure to provide fire/flame propagation 

performance information on the new construction materials (citation 026449), and 

overcrowding (citation 026450). (Id.—¶¶ 56-57); (R[26-2]—127).4 On February 4, 

code enforcement officers visited Sheba and issued two citations for “operating 

outside the letter of entertainment” – one for operating as a nightclub in violation 

of code § 27-4.2.32 (citation 029601), and one for serving alcohol after 4:00 a.m. 

(citation 025099). (R[80]—¶¶ 58-60]; (R[26-2]—123, 132). On February 11, 

Jewett returned and issued a second citation for overcrowding (citation 026553) 

and use of sparklers and open flames indoors (citation 026554). (R[80]—¶¶ 58-

60); (R[26-2]—130-131).  

 On March 25, Jewett returned for the final time and issued a third citation 

for overcrowding (citation 026555) and for “failure to comply with orders given” 

(citation 026556). (R[80]—¶ 60); (R[26-2]—125-26).  

 
4 This Court may consider the citations, which are referenced in the first amended 

complaint and attached to Sheba’s complaint in state court litigation, at this stage of the 
litigation. Stephens, Inc., 500 F.3d at 1284.  
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 Based on these dangerous conditions, Jewett issued a “Notice of Fire 

Hazard” and directed Sheba to cease operations until further notice. (R[80]—¶ 61); 

(R[26-2]—141).  

 On April 21, Baker revoked Sheba’s business license based on Sheba’s 

repeated code violations. (R[80]—¶¶ 69, 73); (R[26-2]—124).5 He also revoked 

Sheba’s certificate of occupancy and based on the code violations and revoked 

Sheba’s legal nonconforming status for illegally changing use from a LNE 

restaurant to a nightclub. (R[80]—¶¶ 69, 73); (R[26-2]—124).  

Sheba appealed Baker’s decision to revoke Sheba’s certificate of occupancy 

and legal nonconforming status to the Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBA”), but the 

ZBA affirmed his decision. (R[80]—¶ 72). During the ZBA hearing,6 Jewett 

testified: 

We’re pretty much – our department – we’re complaint-based; so as the 
complaints come in, we go to investigate it. We record those 
complaints. We go out per the direction of the Fire Marshal… 
 
Sometime in December, a series of complaints came through. 
December 29th, we actually visited the location to investigate the 
complaint. At that time, we walked in, we found some construction 
going on. You know, at that time, we issued citations. We have already 

 
5 This Court may consider Baker’s revocation letter, which is referenced in the first 

amended complaint and in the record below, at this stage of the litigation. Stephens, Inc., 500 
F.3d at 1284. 

 
6 The Court may consider the ZBA transcript because under Travers v. Jones, 323 F.3d 

1294, 1296 (11th Cir. 2003), this Court is bound by the factual rulings of state administrative 
bodies and because Sheba has not objected to consideration of the transcript.  
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adjudicated the case in Magistrate Court; they pleaded guilty to it. But 

there was construction materials, there was a clear change of all the 

furnishings in the location. There were doors that were added. There 

was a fresh-air breezeway that was added without permits… 
 
These changes are detrimental to life safety. One of the issues that 
they actually had was they had a door and – but it was swinging in the 
wrong direction of the egress travel late, so that’s why you needed to 
have permits so that we can look at them… 
 
January 27th, a month later, some more complaints came in, and the 
permit still wasn’t filed at the time. We cited them again for failure to 
permit the construction again, and also failure to provide some flame-
proofing information… 
 
[T]here are the open flames that we’ve witnessed multiple times 

when we’re out there. These are -- these are pretty significant. So 
the open flames -- they actually -- the way they work is they shoot a 
little flame about an inch high, and there’s sparkles that come out. I 
mean, it’s for effect, which is good; but, clearly, the product, on it, it 
says it’s for outdoor use only. 
 
There’s emissions that come off of it that are dangerous to breathe; and 
also, that flame, if -- if they were to fall and then you have furnishings 
that aren’t protected, you know, with a certain standard -- so they are 
flameproof-protected -- could be another Station Nightclub fire.  
 
The most significant was the overcrowding... [W]e set the occupant 
load at 99… So the first time was 250; second time about 250; and 

this last time was around 320 people …  
 
(R[27-1]—48-50) (emphasis added).  

Officer Brown of DeKalb County Code Enforcement testified: 

We visited Queen of Sheba at 4:00 in the morning on February 4th… 
Once we got in there, it was extremely overcrowded. We went to the 
back door to see if we had – I went to the back to see the – if we had 
another exit out. The exit in the back was blocked. It was at 4:12 
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when we noticed that they were still pouring liquor and still serving 

customers.  

 

(Id.—52-53) (emphasis added).  
 

Andrew Baker testified: 
 

[T]he Code Enforcement Department went out and cited them for 
violations, which they pled guilty to. They did the renovations without 
any active permits. No permits were pulled. Again, the Fire Marshal 
went out, starting in December, and notice that it was over capacity… 
Thirty days later, the Fire Marshal’s office went again, issued another 
citation regarding the over-capacity and the overcrowding of that; thirty 
days later, went again. So this was repeated violations of the Code 

which, again, from my standpoint, make me take a look at the 

business license as well as the change of use. 
 

(Id.—35-36) (emphasis added).  

 Concerned neighbors testified, too:  

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:.. They were building a new bar and 
they were building things, and they had completely gutted it down to 
the studs. So they completely renovated it... When they closed 

September 26, 2016, and were closed for several months, they 

opened back in December as a nightclub called Chic. And they 
didn't really open for lunch and all the things that they used to do and 
have a nice family restaurant. You couldn't bring your kids anymore. 
It was a hard-core nightclub. We have pictures that we're going to 
submit as evidence with date stamps. When it was an Ethiopian 
restaurant, there was never any activity; and all these people that live 
across the street can tell you there was no activity and -- late at night -
- and all of a sudden, all heck broke loose. There was gunshots and 

noise and horns beeping and traffic jams up to North Druid Hills 

Road, all the way 'til 5:30 in the morning. So that was a whole 
different world. 
… 
 
MS. BARBARA VARGAS: Great. My name is Barbara Vargas. I'll 
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keep this short. I have a packet of material for you that shows you 

Queen of Sheba as it appeared before, screen grabs from their Google 

listing that were posted by owner, and their Facebook page, showing 

that they were open until 11:30 p.m. Monday through Thursday as 

recently as 2011, more recently than that according to Facebook, and 

the rest of the week until midnight. There are also pictures here that 

show Queen of Sheba as it looked before when it was a nice, 

respectable Ethiopian restaurant, and evidence that it closed -- closed 
for remodeling -- 'sorry for inconveniences' from their own Facebook 
posting dated September 27th. And their Yelp lister -- 'Yelpers report 
this location has closed'. And it's been replaced by Chic Restaurant 
and Lounge on Yelp, where one reviewer says, 'This was formerly 

an Ethiopian restaurant called Queen of Sheba. Atlanta's new top 

hot spot'. They also advertise on their Instagram that they are 

called Chic. And they also -- I also have pictures from inside that 

show it's clearly a nightclub with pyrotechnics -- and I don't see 

any food on the table. It's all Grey Goose and hookahs. 
 

(Id.—27-32) (emphasis added).  

 Sheba also appealed Baker’s business license decision to the Certificate 

Review Board (“CRB”), which reversed Baker’s decision and ordered him to 

reissue Sheba’s business license. (R[80]—¶ 75).  

 Shortly after the CRB hearing, Martha Gross sent a series of emails to the 

county officials suggesting ways to prevent Sheba from getting its business license. 

(Id.—¶¶ 79-81). On September 29, 2017, Gross sent an email to Zachary Williams, 

the Chief Operating Officer and Acting Finance Director for the County, which 

included a list alleging 17 grounds for denying Sheba’s business license. (Id.—¶ 

79). Gross sent the same email to Rader, asking him to review the 17-point list and 

imploring him to “do what you can to stop that issuance of a business license.” 
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(Id.—¶ 80). Rader’s Chief of Staff responded to Gross to inform her that Rader had 

received the email and was reviewing it with Williams and the law department. 

(Id.—¶ 81).  

 On September 30, Gross emailed Defendants Jewett and Cox to discuss 

ways to prevent Sheba from getting a business license, stating that: “It is a shame 

that the County lawyer who handled the appeal bungled it so badly. . . I only hope 

we can somehow prevail on the COO to deny [Sheba] a new business license, even 

though the county lawyers seem to think they have to issue it, even though [Sheba] 

ha[s] not obtained a CO or other grounds for obtaining it. It will be much easier to 

get them NOT to issue the business license than to try to get it revoked once it is 

issued.” (Id.—¶ 83). Despite Gross’ protestations, the County issued the license 

nonetheless. (Id.—¶¶ 76, 86).  

 In the first amended complaint, Sheba does not contest the validity of the 

citations and enforcement actions, nor could it. Instead, Sheba challenges the 

Appellants’ motivations, alleging they discriminated against Sheba based on 

Sheba’s ethnicity. In sum, Sheba’s theory is this: Martha Gross “spearheaded” a 

campaign to discriminate against Ethiopian restaurants in District 2 in 2015, (id.—

¶ 51); Commissioner Rader “commandeered” various county departments 

“requiring directors and staff in those departments … to carry out Martha Gross’ 

directives” of selective enforcement against Ethiopian restaurants, (id.—¶ 121); 
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and those staff members, including Baker, Cox, and Jewett, carried out Gross’ 

scheme at Rader’s direction “understanding well” Gross’ “improper purposes.” 

(Id.—¶ 135). As a result, several Ethiopian restaurants were forced to close or 

operate in a restricted matter, while restaurants catering primarily to white clientele 

were not. (Id.—¶¶ 107, 111-112). According to the first amended complaint, the 

County’s actions resulted in Sheba’s permanent closing. (R[80]—¶ 64).7 

III. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS 

Prior Litigation 

 In DeKalb County Magistrate Court, Sheba pleaded guilty to citations for 

open flames indoors (citation 026554), failure to provide fireproofing information 

(citation 026449), and two counts of overcrowding (citations 026450, 026553). See 

(R[26-1]). Some charges were “nolle prossed”, while others were “bound over” to 

state court.8  

 In DeKalb County Superior Court, Sheba filed (and voluntarily dismissed) 

three lawsuits challenging the County’s enforcement actions and administrative 

 
7 In reality, Sheba reopened in 2017 as “Sheba Lounge” and has been in operation as a 

restaurant nightclub ever since. See generally https://www.shebaloungeatl.com/about. You can 
follow Sheba’s social media activity at https://www.instagram.com/sheba_lounge, which shows 
that it is still operating a nightclub at the same location as of the filing of this brief.  

 
8 The DeKalb County Solicitor General charged Sheba with reckless endangerment and 

ordinance violations based on overcrowding, see State v. Abebe, 18C15834 (Ga. St. Ct. 2018), 
but those documents are not in the record. 

USCA11 Case: 21-13077     Date Filed: 10/13/2021     Page: 24 of 57 

https://www.shebaloungeatl.com/about
https://www.instagram.com/sheba_lounge


15 

 

 

decisions. See Sheba Ethiopian Rest., Inc. v. DeKalb Cty., et al., Case No. 

17CV4864-9 (Ga. Super. Ct. 2017) (“Sheba I”) (seeking writ of mandamus, 

injunctive relief, and a temporary restraining order against the County, Baker, Cox, 

and Williams challenging the revoking, denying, and terminating permits and 

licenses necessary to operate); Sheba Ethiopian Rest., Inc. v. DeKalb Cty., Case 

No. 17CV7588-9 (Ga. Super. Ct. 2017) (“Sheba II”) (seeking writ of mandamus, 

declaratory judgment, and petition for certiorari against the County challenging the 

revoking, denying, and terminating permits and licenses necessary to operate); 

Sheba Ethiopian Restaurant, Inc. v. DeKalb County, Georgia, Case No. 18CV9838 

(Ga. Super. Ct. 2018) (“Sheba III”) (renewing claims from Sheba II). 

On November 3, 2017, Sheba filed this lawsuit asserting claims under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983 for alleged violations of its constitutional rights to equal protection, 

due process, and free speech, and claims under § 1981 and § 1985(3) for race 

discrimination and conspiracy to discriminate based on race. Sheba also asserted 

state law claims for mandamus and attorney’s fees. The defendants moved to 

dismiss on various grounds, including failure to state a claim, qualified immunity, 

and res judicata. Sheba moved to amend its complaint to include factual allegations 

concerning collusion between county officials and Martha Gross. The district court 

granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss and denied Sheba’s leave to amend, 
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holding that Sheba’s prior lawsuits in superior court barred Sheba from relitigating 

its claims in federal court. Sheba appealed.  

In an unpublished opinion, this Court affirmed in part and reversed in part 

the district court’s judgment. See Sheba Ethiopian Rest., Inc. v. DeKalb Cty., 

Georgia, 820 F. App'x 889 (11th Cir. 2020). This Court affirmed the dismissal of 

Sheba’s equal protection, due process, and mandamus claims on res judicata 

grounds, and affirmed the dismissal of Sheba’s free speech claims for lack of 

standing. But the Court reversed the dismissal of Sheba’s § 1981 and § 1985(3) 

claims, holding that res judicata did not apply to them. Id. at 899. This Court also 

reversed the denial of Sheba’s motion to amend. Id. at 890.  

 On remand, the district court granted Sheba leave to file its first amended 

complaint, which asserts two claims: (1) a § 1981 race discrimination claim against 

DeKalb County, and (2) a § 1985(3) conspiracy claim against all defendants. 

R[80]. The defendants moved to strike certain allegations from the first amended 

complaint because those allegations sought to relitigate issues previously litigated 

in state court, and the defendants moved to dismiss the amended complaint for 

failure to state a claim, arguing (among other things) that Sheba, a corporation, had 

no racial identity and cannot be the direct target of racial discrimination. R[82]. 

The individual defendants further argued that qualified immunity applied because 

Sheba’s rights under those statutes were not clearly established at the time, and 
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because a reasonable official could have believed that the individual county 

officials’ conduct was lawful under Foy v. Holston, 94 F.3d 1528 (11th Cir. 1996), 

which holds that qualified immunity applies in discrimination cases if a defendant 

has at least one lawful motive for her actions.  

IV. DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT 

On August 25, 2021, the district court entered its order granting in part and 

denying in part the defendants’ motion to dismiss. R[96]. First, the district court 

held that Sheba stated a § 1981 claim because it acquired a minority racial identity 

through its owner, Solomon Abebe, who is black and from Ethiopia. (Id.—21). 

Second, the district court held that Sheba stated a § 1985(3) claim against Baker, 

Cox, Gannon, Jewett, and Rader, even though the district court found that only one 

of them (Cox) acted with racial animus, (id.—34), and did not address whether 

Sheba stated a § 1985(3) claim against the County. Third, the district court denied 

qualified immunity, explaining that the first amended complaint raises an inference 

of race discrimination, and “[i]t is clearly established that § 1981 covers race 

discrimination.” (Id.—15). The district court further held that discovery was 

necessary to determine whether defendants had a lawful purpose for their actions 

to warrant qualified immunity under Foy v. Holston, 94 F.3d 1528, 1534 (11th Cir. 

1996). Finally, the district court granted the motion to strike in part based on 

preclusion principles.   
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 This Court reviews de novo a district court's ruling on 12(b)(6) motion to 

dismiss for failure to state a claim. Hill v. White, 321 F.3d 1334, 1335 (11th Cir. 

2003). First, the Court identifies and discards conclusory allegations. Ashcroft v. 

Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Second, the Court accepts the complaint’s well-

pleaded allegations as true and determines whether the plaintiff states a plausible 

claim for relief. Id. 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Eleventh Circuit’s well-settled pleading standards require a § 1981 

plaintiff to plausibly allege that the plaintiff is a member of a racial minority and 

the defendant discriminated against the plaintiff based on race. Jimenez v. Wellstar 

Health Sys., 596 F.3d 1304, 1308 (11th Cir. 2010). Likewise, to state a § 1985(3) 

claim, the plaintiff must be a member of a protected class. Id. Below, the district 

court held that Sheba, a corporation, is a member of a racial minority because 

Sheba’s owner Solomon Abebe is black and from Ethiopia. But whether a 

corporation can be a member of a racial minority is an issue of first question in the 

Eleventh Circuit. While some circuits say “yes,” the U.S. Supreme Court has 

explained that corporations have no racial identity and cannot be the direct target 

of racial discrimination. Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing 

Development Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 263 (1977). Because Sheba has no racial 

identity, the district court erred in holding that Sheba stated claims for race 

discrimination under § 1981 and § 1985(3).    

 Circuit pleading standards also require a § 1985(3) plaintiff to plausibly 

allege “invidiously discriminatory animus behind the defendant’s action taken in 

furtherance of the conspiracy.” Dean v. Warren, --- 4th ---, 2021 WL 3927802 at 

*4 (11th Cir. Sept. 2, 2021). But the district court held that Sheba was not required 

to plausibly allege discriminatory animus for each defendant. Instead, the district 
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court held that Sheba passed muster by alleging that “the conspiracy’s purpose” 

was discriminatory and each defendant “intentionally participated in the alleged 

conspiracy.” (R[96]—31). By lowering the bar for Sheba’s conspiracy claim, the 

district court erred.  

 Finally, to pierce qualified immunity, a plaintiff must plausibly allege the 

violation of a clearly established right. Even if this Court ultimately determines 

that a corporation like Sheba has any rights under § 1981 and § 1985(3), those 

rights were not clearly established in the Eleventh Circuit at the time of the alleged 

misconduct. Avoiding that issue, the district court held instead that “[i]t is clearly 

established that § 1981 covers racial discrimination.” By defining clearly 

established law at a very high level of generality, the district court erred. See, e.g., 

White v. Pauly, 137 S. Ct. 548, 552 (2017) (“Today, it is again necessary to 

reiterate the longstanding principle that clearly established law should not be 

defined at a high level of generality.”). Besides, qualified immunity is appropriate 

where the record shows the defendant acted at least in part based on lawful 

motivations. See Foy v. Holston, 94 F.3d 1528 (11th Cir. 1996). Here, the record 

shows obvious lawful motives (i.e. zoning code violations and public safety 

concerns), which the district court ignored.  

For these reasons, this Court should reverse the district court’s order and 

dismiss this case with prejudice. 

USCA11 Case: 21-13077     Date Filed: 10/13/2021     Page: 30 of 57 



21 

 

 

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY 

I. The district court erred in holding that Appellee Sheba Ethiopian 

Restaurant, Inc., stated claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and § 1985(3). 

 

Sheba seeks damages for race discrimination under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and 

conspiracy to discriminate based on race under § 1985(3). Well-established 

Eleventh Circuit pleading standards require a § 1981 plaintiff to allege that the 

plaintiff is a member of a racial minority and the defendant discriminated against 

the plaintiff based on race. Likewise, a § 1985(3) plaintiff must be a member of a 

protected class. But Sheba cannot satisfy these requirements because, as a matter 

of first impression in the Eleventh Circuit, corporations have no racial identity and 

cannot be the direct target of racial discrimination. And Sheba has failed to 

plausibly allege that each defendant possessed the requisite racial animus under 

either statute, so the district court’s judgment should be reversed.  

a. Sheba’s § 1981 claim fails because corporations have no racial 
identity and cannot be the direct target of racial discrimination. 

 
“To state a claim for non-employment discrimination under § 1981, a 

plaintiff must allege (1) he is a member of a racial minority, (2) the defendant 

intended to racially discriminate against him, and (3) the discrimination concerned 

one or more of the activities enumerated in the statute.” See Jimenez v. Wellstar 

Health Sys., 596 F.3d 1304, 1308 (11th Cir. 2010). This appeal concerns the first 

and second elements.  
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In its amended complaint, Sheba alleges that the County discriminated 

against Sheba9 based on Sheba’s Ethiopian ethnicity. (R80 ¶¶ 128-129). In their 

motion to dismiss, Appellants argued that corporations have no racial identity and 

cannot be the direct target of racial discrimination as a matter of law. (R82 p. 11). 

The district court rejected that argument, holding that Sheba has a racial identity 

because its owner, Solomon Abebe, is black and from Ethiopia. (R96 p. 19).10 The 

district court’s order raises an issue of first impression in the Eleventh Circuit: can 

a corporation acquire a racial identity and be the direct target of racial 

discrimination?  

Twice, the Supreme Court suggested the answer is “no.” In Connecticut 

Gen. Life Ins. Co. v. Johnson, 303 U.S. 77 (1938), Justice Black explained that 

“[c]orporations have neither race nor color.” Id. at 87 (Black, J., dissenting). And 

in Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development Corp., 429 

 
9 Sheba does not seek relief based on discrimination directed at third parties (i.e. its 

clientele), nor could it. See Jimenez, 569 F.3d at 1308 (requiring plaintiff to allege that defendant 
discriminated against the plaintiff based on the plaintiff’s minority racial identity). See also 

Prestige Restaurants & Ent., Inc. v. Bayside Seafood Restaurant, Inc., 417 F. App’x 892 (11th 
Cir. 2011) (affirming that discrimination “on the basis of the race of [a Caribbean-themed 
nightclub’s] clientele” is not actionable under § 1981). And Sheba does not seek to vindicate the 
rights of any third parties (i.e. its owners), nor could it. See Domino's Pizza, Inc. v. McDonald, 
546 U.S. 470, 476 (2006) (“Any claim brought under § 1981, therefore, must initially identify an 
impaired ‘contractual relationship,’ § 1981(b), under which the plaintiff has rights.”). 

 
10 The district court held that Sheba’s racial identity conferred standing on Sheba under § 

1981. But the County never challenged Sheba’s standing, only whether Sheba satisfied the 
elements of its claim.  
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U.S. 252 (1977), Justice Powell explained that “a corporation has no racial identity 

and cannot be the direct target” of racial discrimination. Id. at 263. But the court 

ultimately decided Arlington Heights on other grounds, id., so Justice Powell’s 

corporate racial identity rule arguably constitutes nonbinding dicta. Still, Arlington 

Heights is the Supreme Court’s only word on the topic,11 and this Court has 

“consistently recognized that dicta from the Supreme Court is not something to be 

lightly cast aside, but rather is of considerable persuasive value.” F.E.B. Corp. v. 

United States, 818 F.3d 681, 690 (11th Cir. 2016) (cleaned up, citations omitted).  

Well-settled principles of corporate law—and common sense—favor 

Arlington Heights’ rationale because a corporation holds an identity separate and 

distinct from its shareholders. See Moline Properties v. Comm'r of Internal 

Revenue, 319 U.S. 436, 439 (1943). Indeed, “it is precisely this lack of oneness 

that makes adopting the form of a corporation an attractive choice.” Baraga Prod., 

Inc. v. Michigan Com’r of Revenue, 156 F.3d 1228, at *3 (table) (6th Cir. 1998). 

Besides, assigning a racial identity to a corporation based on the race of its 

ownership defies logic because race is immutable, while corporate ownership is 

fluid. See Richard R.W. Brooks, Incorporating Race, 106 Colum. L. Rev. 2023, 

 
11 The Supreme Court recently declined to resolve the question, which suggests the 

answer is still up for debate. See Comcast Corp. v. Nat'l Ass'n of Afr. Am.-Owned Media, 140 S. 
Ct. 1009 (2020) (vacating denial of motion to dismiss § 1981 claim without discussing whether 
plaintiff, a corporation, was member of racial minority). 
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2044 (2006) (“Immutability is difficult to maintain when race is connected to (or, 

indeed, defined by) ownership interests that are predicated on ease of 

transferability.”).12  

Persuasive circuit authority supports adhering to Arlington Heights’ 

corporate racial identity rule. In Prestige Restaurants & Ent., Inc. v. Bayside 

Seafood Restaurant, Inc., 417 F. App’x 892 (11th Cir. 2011), this Court affirmed 

the dismissal of a § 1981 claim in a similar factual scenario. In Prestige, the 

plaintiff was “a Florida corporation that organizes and promotes events with 

Caribbean musical and cultural themes” at a “restaurant-nightclub establishment.” 

2010 WL 680905, at *1 (S.D. Fla. Feb 23, 2010). The plaintiff alleged that the 

defendants conspired to shut down the club based on the race of the club’s 

minority clientele by revoking its license to operate, among other things. Id. at *2. 

The district court dismissed the complaint under 12(b)(6) because: 

[I]n order to state a claim under either Section 1981 or Section 1982, 
Plaintiff must adequately allege that it is a member of a racial 
minority. Plaintiff Prestige, “a corporation ... with no racial identity,” 
has failed to do so. Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing 

Development Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 263 (1977). As the Supreme Court 
noted in Arlington Heights, “corporations ... ha[ve] no [racial] identity 
and cannot be the direct target of ... alleged discrimination.”  

 
12 Below, the district court reasoned that “[i]f a corporation can have a ‘religious’ 

identity, logic suggests that a corporation, such as Sheba, can assume the ‘racial’ identity of the 
people who own and control it.” (R[96]—21) (citing Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc., 573 
U.S. 682 (2014) (extending first amendment freedom of religion rights to corporations)). Burwell 
presents a poor analog, however, because the fluid nature of corporate ownership matches the 
fluid nature of religious belief, but it mismatches the immutable nature of race.   
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Id. at *7. The district court also held the plaintiff cannot satisfy § 1981 pleading 

standards by alleging discrimination based on the race of the club’s clientele: 

While I recognize that corporations have been permitted to bring 

Section 1983 claims as a result of discriminatory state actions directed 

at third parties, see e.g., Young Apartments, Inc. v. Town of Jupiter, 

Fl., 529 F.3d 1027 (11th Cir. 2008), Section 1983—unlike Sections 

1981 and 1982—does not require that a Plaintiff be “a member of a 
racial minority” to state a cause of action; such cases are therefore 
inapposite. 

 

Id. at *7. In an unpublished per curiam opinion, this Court affirmed. 417 F. App’x 

892. Admittedly, Prestige is not directly on point because the plaintiff in that case 

alleged discrimination “on the basis of the race of its clientele,” 417 F. App’x at 

892, not based on its own racial identity. And while the Court of Appeals found no 

reversible error in the district court’s order, it did not address the district court’s 

discussion of Arlington Heights. While Prestige isn’t binding, it carries persuasive 

value.13  

 
13 In a factually and legally distinct case, this Court held that a corporation could pursue a 

§ 1981 retaliation claim for opposing race discrimination in government contracting. Webster v. 

Fulton County, Ga., 283 F.3d 1254 (11th Cir. 2002). But Webster is easily distinguishable 

because § 1981 retaliation claims concern protected conduct, not protected identity. In other 

words, a § 1981 retaliation plaintiff need not allege that he is a racial minority or that the 

defendant discriminated against the plaintiff based on the plaintiff’s race. See generally Jimenez, 

596 F.3d at 1311 (“To state a retaliation claim under § 1981, a plaintiff must allege a defendant 

retaliated against him because the plaintiff engaged in statutorily protected activity.”). Besides, 
Webster expressly limited its holding to the facts of that case. See 283 F.3d at 1256, n. 3 (“In a 
situation as the one presented by this case, Section 1981’s protections extend to companies such 
as WGT.”), so Webster lacks persuasive value here.  
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Persuasive authority from other jurisdictions presents a mixed bag but, 

admittedly, that authority leans in Sheba’s favor. Some jurisdictions have held that 

a corporation can acquire a racial identity through the racial identity of its owners 

for purposes of § 1981. E.g. Thinket Ink Information Resources, Inc. v. Sun 

Microsystems, Inc., 368 F.3d 1053, 1059 (9th Cir. 2004). Outside the § 1981 

context, on the other hand, some jurisdictions have held that a corporation is not 

member of a racial minority even if its owner is. E.g. Baraga, supra, (explaining 

that a corporation is not a member of a minority group “simply because its sole 

stockholder is” a member); State ex rel. Wasden v. Native Wholesale Supply Co., 

155 Idaho 337, 342 (2013) (“as a corporation, NWS is not an Indian”). See also 

Farm Labor Organizing Committee v. Stein, 2021 WL 736712, at *30 (M.D.N.C. 

Feb. 25, 2021) (quoting Arlington Heights) (“As a corporation, [the labor union] 

has no racial identity and cannot be the direct target of the [] alleged [racial] 

discrimination.”), report and recommendation adopted, 2021 WL 1195803 

(M.D.N.C. Mar. 30, 2021).14  

 
14 Still other jurisdictions hold that a corporation may pursue a § 1981 claim for 

discrimination directed at a third parties. E.g. White Glove Staffing, Inc. v. Methodist Hosps. of 

Dallas, 947 F.3d 301, 306 (5th Cir. 2020). But White Glove doesn’t work here because Sheba 
alleges discrimination against the corporation itself, not third parties. In any event, White Glove 

lacks persuasive value because it conflicts with well-established circuit pleading standards, 
which require a § 1981 plaintiff to be a member of a racial minority, and which prohibit a § 1981 
plaintiff from pursuing claims for race discrimination directed at third parties. Jimenez, Prestige. 
Overhauling circuit pleading standards to accommodate the holdings of other circuit courts lands 
squarely in the en banc court’s wheelhouse.  
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In sum, whether a corporation like Sheba can be a member of a racial 

minority or be the direct target of racial discrimination is an issue of first 

impression in the Eleventh Circuit. Highly persuasive authority from the Supreme 

Court, corporate law principles, common sense, and this Court leans toward “no,” 

while persuasive authority from other circuits leans “yes.” Unless and until the 

Supreme Court or the en banc court hold otherwise, this panel should follow 

Arlington Heights and hold that Sheba, corporation, has no racial identity and has 

failed to state a claim under § 1981. 

b. Sheba’s § 1985(3) claim fails for the same reason.  

“To state a claim under § 1985(3), a plaintiff must allege: (1) defendants 

engaged in a conspiracy; (2) the conspiracy's purpose was to directly or indirectly 

deprive a protected person or class the equal protection of the laws, or equal 

privileges and immunities under the laws; (3) a conspirator committed an act to 

further the conspiracy; and (4) as a result, the plaintiff suffered injury to either his 

person or his property, or was deprived of a right or privilege of a citizen of the 

United States.” Jimenez, 596 F.3d at 1312.  

The second element poses a similar issue of first impression for this Court: 

can a corporation acquire the identity of a protected class for purposes of § 

1985(3)? For the reasons described above, the answer is “no.” But the Court 

needn’t resolve that question because “§ 1985(3) provides no substantive rights 
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itself; it merely provides a remedy for violation of the rights it designates.” Great 

Am. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Novotny, 442 U.S. 366, 372 (1979). Here, Sheba 

alleges the defendants conspired to violate its rights under § 1981.15 Because Sheba 

cannot establish the first element of its § 1981 claim, it necessarily fails to establish 

the fourth element of its § 1985(3) claim. See Rice-Lamar v. City of Ft. 

Lauderdale, Fla., 232 F.3d 836, 844 (11th Cir. 2000) (“Our disposition of Rice–

Lamar's discrimination claims obviates the need for us to address her conspiracy 

claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3).”).  

c. Sheba’s claims fail for the additional reason that Sheba did not 

plausibly allege that each defendant possessed the requisite 

discriminatory animus.  

 

Like § 1981, the touchstone of § 1985(3) is discriminatory animus. See 

Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 102 (1971). See also Park v. City of Atlanta, 

120 F.3d 1157, 1160 (1997) (“discriminatory intent is essential in proving a § 

1985(3) conspiracy”). A § 1985(3) plaintiff must show “invidiously discriminatory 

animus behind the defendant’s action taken in furtherance of the conspiracy.” 

Dean v. Warren, --- 4th ---, 2021 WL 3927802 at *4 (11th Cir. Sept. 2, 2021) 

(emphasis added). This means a plaintiff must plausibly allege “the defendant 

 
15 To the extent Sheba alleges a conspiracy to violate its constitutional rights, res judicata 

and the law-of-the-case doctrine prevent Sheba from relitigating those rights.  
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proceeded on his course of conduct because of, not merely in spite of, its adverse 

effects upon an identifiable group.” Id. (emphasis added). Accordingly, a plaintiff 

who “fail[s] to plausibly allege that [the defendant] possessed the requisite class-

based animus” necessarily “fail[s] to state a § 1985(3) claim” against that 

defendant. Id. at *1.  

The district court, however, held that § 1985(3) does not require Sheba to 

plausibly allege that each defendant acted with racial animus. (R[96]—31). 

According to the district court, Sheba passes muster by merely alleging that “the 

conspiracy’s purpose” was discriminatory and that each defendant “intentionally 

participated in the alleged conspiracy.” (Id.) (emphasis in original). Applying that 

principle, the district court found that Martha Gross “initiated” or “propagated” a 

conspiracy based on her animus toward Ethiopian restaurants and the individual 

county officials “participated” in the conspiracy. (Id.—32-36).  

The district court’s “participation” rule contradicts binding precedent 

because Griffin and Dean direct lower courts to determine whether the defendant 

possessed discriminatory animus. And besides, common sense tells us that no 

“meeting of the minds” to discriminate based on race could possibly have occurred 

unless each defendant harbored discriminatory animus. See Martin v. Boyce, 2000 

WL 1264148, at *7 (M.D.N.C. July 20, 2000) (“At the very least, when only one 

conspirator is motivated by a forbidden purpose, there can be no meeting of the 
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minds, no agreement, to deprive another of the equal protection of the laws 

because of his race.”).16  

Simply put, a public official is not liable under § 1985(3) unless her actions 

were based on racial animus. But Sheba has failed to plausibly allege 

discriminatory animus against each defendant. Indeed, the district court only found 

that one of the defendants (Cox) possessed the requisite animus. (R[96]—34). 

Accordingly, Sheba’s claims against the others necessarily fail.17  

II. The district court erred in denying qualified immunity to the individual 

county officials.   

 

“The doctrine of qualified immunity protects government officials from 

liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly 

established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would 

have known.” Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 231 (2009) (citation and internal 

 
16 Appellants note that the district court’s logic could apply to a § 1986 claim, which 

provides a cause of action for failure to prevent a § 1985(3) conspiracy, whereby a defendant 

need not “share the class-based animus.” Park, 120 F.3d at 1160 (quoting Clark). But Sheba 
asserts a § 1985(3) claim, not a § 1986 claim.  

 
17 DeKalb County notes that the district court only considered whether Sheba stated a § 

1985(3) claim against the individual defendants but did not discuss whether Sheba stated that 
claim against the County. (R[96]—32-37). Although this Court should reverse the district court’s 
denial of the County’s motion to dismiss both the § 1981 and § 1985(3) claims on the merits 
because the County did not possess racial animus nor was animus the but-for cause of Sheba’s 
injuries, this Court could also vacate the district court’s order and remand for reconsideration of 
that claim. See Lee v. Hudson, 346 F. App'x 381, 383 (11th Cir. 2009) (“Because of the district 
court's failure to enter findings and conclusions with respect to all of the appellant's claims under 
42 U.S.C. § 1983, we are compelled to vacate the judgment below, and remand the cause.”).  
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quotes omitted). The “clearly established rights” requirement is necessary to 

“provide[] government officials with the ability to anticipate what conduct will 

give rise to liability[.]” Merricks v. Adkisson, 785 F.3d 553, 558 (11th Cir. 2015) 

(citation omitted). After all, “[i]f the law at the time was not clearly established, an 

official could not reasonably be expected to anticipate subsequent legal 

developments, nor could he fairly be said to know that the law forbade conduct not 

previously identified as unlawful.” Id. (citation and quotes omitted). Accordingly, 

qualified immunity applies when a court faces “open legal questions,” Ziglar v. 

Abbasi, 137 S. Ct. 1843, 1866 (2017), when the law is “unsettled,” Hutton v. 

Strickland, 919 F.2d 1531, 1541, n. 15 (11th Cir. 1990), and “if the question is one 

of first impression[.]” Carruth v. Bentley, 942 F.3d 1047, 1059 (11th Cir. 2019). 

To pierce qualified immunity, a plaintiff must point to binding precedent 

from the U.S. Supreme Court, the Eleventh Circuit, or the Georgia Supreme Court 

clearly establishing the precise right at issue. See Thomas ex rel. Thomas v. 

Roberts, 323 F.3d 950, 955 (11th Cir. 2003). A plaintiff cannot rely on cases from 

other jurisdictions, id., or show a violation of just any clearly established right. See 

Elder v. Holloway, 510 U.S. 510, 515 (1994). Instead, “qualified immunity is 

defeated only where a defendant violates a clearly established federal right on 

which the claim for relief is based.” Harbert Int’l, Inc. v. James, 157 F.3d 1271, 

1286 (11th Cir. 1998) (cleaned up, emphasis added) (citing Elder). Because § 
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1985(3) creates no substantive rights itself, it follows that Sheba must show a 

violation of its clearly established rights under § 1981.  

Furthermore, a plaintiff’s clearly established rights “must be particularized 

to the facts of the case.” D.C. v. Wesby, 138 S. Ct. 577, 590 (2018). Lower courts 

must not define clearly established rights at a “high level of generality” because 

doing so avoids the crucial question of whether the official acted lawfully in that 

factual scenario. Id. The Supreme Court has become increasingly frustrated by 

lower courts who ignore this mandate: 

In the last five years, this Court has issued a number of opinions 

reversing federal courts in qualified immunity cases. See, e.g., City 

and County of San Francisco v. Sheehan, 575 U.S. 600, 613, n. 3 

(2015) (collecting cases)… Today, it is again necessary to reiterate the 
longstanding principle that clearly established law should not be 

defined at a high level of generality. Ashcroft v. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 

731, 742 (2011). As this Court explained decades ago, the clearly 

established law must be particularized to the facts of the case. 

Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640 (1987).  

 

White v. Pauly, 137 S. Ct. 548, 552 (2017) (cleaned up).  

 Finally, qualified immunity employs an objective standard. Harlow v. 

Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 817-18 (1982). But Harlow’s objective standard creates 

tension with the elements of a § 1985(3) claim, which necessarily require probing a 

defendant’s subjective intent for class-based animus.  

In Burrell v. Board of Trustees of Ga. Mil. Coll., 970 F.2d 785, 794 (11th 

Cir. 1992), this Court attempted to resolve that tension by categorically barring 
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public officials from raising qualified immunity in § 1985(3) case, reasoning that 

“invidiously discriminatory animus has no place in public policy and any actions 

by public officials based on such animus deserve to be chilled with the full force of 

federal law.” Id. at 794.  

Burrell hasn’t aged well. Shortly after Burrell was decided, this Court issued 

several opinions undermining Burrell’s logic, including, e.g.: 

• Edwards v. Wallace Cmty. Coll., 49 F.3d 1517 (11th Cir. 1995), where this 

Court applied qualified immunity to a race discrimination claim under the 

Fourteenth Amendment. Id. at 1524. 

• Foy v. Holston, 94 F.3d 1528 (11th Cir. 1996), where this Court applied 

qualified immunity to a religious discrimination claim under the First 

Amendment. Id. at 1534.  

• Johnson v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 126 F.3d 1372 (11th Cir. 1997), where 

this Court applied qualified immunity to a race discrimination claim under § 

1981. Id. at 1379.  

• Gonzalez v. Lee Cty. Hous. Auth., 161 F.3d 1290 (11th Cir. 1998), where 

this Court applied qualified immunity to a race discrimination claim under § 

3617 and explicitly questioned Burrell’s rationale. Id. at 1300, n. 35.  
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• Stanley v. City of Dalton, Ga., 219 F.3d 1280 (11th Cir. 2000), where this 

court applied qualified immunity to a retaliation claim. Id. at 1296. 

Recently, this Court finally buried Burrell with the Supreme Court’s shovel: 

Although we held in Burrell v. Board of Trustees of Georgia Military 

College that qualified immunity does not apply to a claim brought 

under section 1985(3), 970 F.2d 785, 794 (11th Cir. 1992), the 

Supreme Court recently abrogated that holding in Ziglar v. Abbasi, ––
– U.S. ––––, 137 S. Ct. 1843, 1869, 198 L.Ed.2d 290 (2017) (holding 

that petitioners were entitled to qualified immunity with respect to 

claims brought under section 1985(3)). 

 

Chua v. Ekonomou, 1 F.4th 948, 965 (11th Cir. 2021).  

With Burrell gone, the Foy approach to qualified immunity in discrimination 

cases governs. See Stanley v. City of Dalton, Ga., 219 F.3d 1280, 1296 (11th Cir. 

2000) (“Foy is the law of this Circuit as sets out the proper analysis to apply in 

potential mixed motive cases.”). Foy recognized the “well-established” principle 

that “state officials can act lawfully even when motivated by a dislike or hostility 

to certain protected behavior,” 94 F.3d at 1534 (citing Mt. Healthy v. Doyle, 429 

U.S. 274 (1979)), and “state officials can be motivated, in part, by a dislike or 

hostility toward a certain protected class to which a citizen belongs and still act 

lawfully.” Id. (citing Arlington Heights). Accordingly, “state officials act lawfully 

despite having discriminatory intent, where the record shows they would have 

acted as they, in fact, did act even if they had lacked discriminatory intent.” Id. 

And “[a] defendant is entitled to qualified immunity under the Foy rationale” 
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where “the record indisputably establishes that the defendant in fact was 

motivated, at least in part, by lawful considerations.” Stanley at 1296. 

Furthermore, in the context of “inspecting” and “issuing citations” for fire 

safety violations, this Court has explained that even where the official possesses 

unlawful subjective motivations, qualified immunity is appropriate unless the 

official’s actions are “plainly unjustified.” Post v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 7 F.3d 

1552, 1560 (11th Cir. 1993). In Post, the plaintiff alleged that the fire officials had 

an illegal subjective motivation to “ruin” its business. But the Court granted 

qualified immunity because “[e]ven if this subjective motivation were true, no 

facts show the code team’s objective conduct in inspecting for violations, issuing 

citations, or making arrests was plainly unjustified.” Id. at 1560.  

And in 6420 Roswell Rd., Inc. v. City of Sandy Springs, Georgia, 484 F. 

Supp. 3d 1321 (N.D. Ga. 2020), the plaintiff alleged that fire officials targeted 

adult entertainment nightclubs for heightened enforcement of fire safety codes 

based on discriminatory animus toward protected first amendment activity. The 

plaintiff argued “that the code violations were not serious and did not pose an 

immediate threat to the health or safety of Plaintiff's patrons.” Id. at 1339. The 

district court rejected the “not serious” argument, noting that fire safety code 

violations are “serious” by nature. Id. And “[b]ecause the fire code violations were 
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not plainly unwarranted,” the allegedly improper motives of the fire officials could 

not overcome qualified immunity. Id. 

In sum, to pierce qualified immunity for its § 1985(3) claim, Sheba must 

show a violation of its clearly established underlying rights under § 1981 

particularized to the facts of this case. Elder, Wesby. Even if Sheba satisfies that 

burden, qualified immunity is appropriate if the defendants had any lawful purpose 

for their actions, Foy, Stanley, or if their actions were objectively reasonable. Post, 

6420. Finally, Sheba must point to materially similar binding precedent clearly 

establishing that every reasonable public official would have known that § 1985(3) 

prohibited the defendants’ alleged conduct. Ziglar, 137 S. Ct. at 1869. 

a. Sheba’s rights under § 1981, if any, were not clearly established in 
the Eleventh Circuit at the relevant time. 

 

In their motion to dismiss, the county officials argued that a corporation’s 

rights under § 1981, if any, are not clearly established. The district court disagreed, 

holding that “[i]t is clearly established that § 1981 covers race discrimination.” 

R[96]—16. But the district court’s formulation of law is too broad because it 

avoids the novel legal issue attending this case: whether it was clearly established 

that a corporation can acquire a racial identity and be the direct target of racial 

discrimination under § 1981. Because this case presents an issue of first impression 

in the Supreme Court and the Eleventh Circuit, Sheba’s rights under § 1981 are, by 
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definition, not clearly established. Carruth, 942 F.3d at 1047; see also Jones v. 

Cannon, 174 F.3d 1271, 1291 (11th Cir. 1999) (applying qualified immunity to 

issue of first impression). The district court should have stopped here and granted 

qualified immunity. 

This Court recently reversed a district court for making the same error. In 

Minnifield v. City of Birmingham Dep’t of Police, 791 F. App’x 86, 92 (11th Cir. 

2019), the court faced a novel issue of law: whether failing to recommend an 

employee for a job with the same pay but more prestige is an adverse employment 

decision for purposes of discrimination under § 1981. Id. at 92. Avoiding the real 

issue, the district court defined clearly established law under § 1981 as “the right to 

be free from racial discrimination,” which was reversible error because “defining 

the law at this high level of generality is discouraged by the Supreme Court.” Id. 

See also Griffin Indus., Inc. v. Irvin, 496 F.3d 1189, 1209 (11th Cir. 2007) 

(defining clearly established law as the right to “equal protection of the laws” is 

too broad). Like in Minnifield, this Court should reverse the district court’s order 

because the district court’s formulation of law is too abstract, and because novel 

issues of law cannot create clearly established law.  

b. The record shows the county officials were motivated at least in part 

by lawful purposes. 
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The first amended complaint fails to plausibly allege that each defendant 

possessed the requisite discriminatory animus. See discussion, supra. But even 

assuming each defendant did possess an unlawful motive, the record shows an 

obvious lawful one: the county officials suspected that Sheba renovated its 

restaurant and changed from a restaurant to a nightclub in violation of zoning and 

fire safety codes.  

The district court acknowledged the lawful intent, but denied qualified 

immunity based on “the timing of the alleged discriminatory intent.” (R[96]—17). 

According to the district court, qualified immunity does not apply if the 

discriminatory intent preceded the lawful intent.18 Then, the district court asked 

“why, after eight years of operating as a legal nonconforming [late night 

establishment restaurant], was Plaintiff subject to the [letter of entertainment] and 

the heightened scrutiny?” (Id.). 

The answer jumps off the page: because Sheba renovated its building, 

advertised itself as a nightclub with DJ and Hookah Lounge, and the neighbors 

started complaining about it. To wit: “Sheba changed its seating plan slightly by 

adding a booths [sic] in lieu of tables and chairs” and “in 2014, Sheba increased its 

 
18 The district court’s flawed logic all but nullifies Foy. Under the district court’s 

rationale, a plaintiff can defeat qualified immunity by simply alleging that the discriminatory 

intent preceded the lawful intent. This cannot be true. 
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marketing efforts on social media by, for example, advertising DJs and its hookah 

lounge.” (R[80]—¶¶ 42, 46). The neighbors saw the construction, the social media 

advertisements, the new name (Chic Lounge), the late-night activity, and 

complained to various county officials about it. (R[Doc. 27-1]—27-32, 48-50). The 

fire inspector and code enforcement officers went to inspect based on those citizen 

complaints. (Id.). And Baker indicated in his letter that his administrative decision 

was based on code violations and change of use.  

Simply put, the county officials suspected that Sheba was operating an 

illegal business and putting the public’s safety at risk, which is a lawful motivation. 

Accordingly, qualified immunity applies under Foy. 

c. The record shows the county officials’ conduct was objectively 

reasonable. 

 

The county officials’ concerns were objectively valid. Sheba began 

advertising and operating as a nightclub, and neighbors began complaining about 

it. Code enforcement officers and fire inspectors found that Sheba renovated its 

restaurant and began operating a nightclub without obtaining the proper permits. 

Inspectors also found Sheba serving alcohol after hours, exceeding the maximum 

occupancy limit by hundreds of people time and again, using fireworks inside, 

blocking rear exits, etc., and Sheba pleaded guilty to most of those charges. The 

parties litigated these issues before the ZBA, which confirmed that Sheba had 
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changed its use from a restaurant to a nightclub in violation of zoning and fire 

safety codes. The ZBA’s decision is binding on this Court. See Travers v. Jones, 

323 F.3d 1294, 1296 (11th Cir. 2003) (holding that federal courts are bound by 

rulings of state administrative bodies).  

Simply put, any reasonable official would agree that Sheba’s hazardous 

operations endangered the public health, and no clearly established law holds 

otherwise. Indeed, neither the district court nor Sheba has pointed to factually 

similar case law from the U.S. Supreme Court, Eleventh Circuit, or Georgia 

Supreme Court clearly establishing that § 1985(3) prohibits each defendant’s 

alleged conduct. That is, Sheba has failed to show any case where public officials 

were held liable under §1985(3) for investigating a citizen’s factual complaints 

about a business and/or taking remedial action after obtaining facts to substantiate 

those complaints, simply because the citizen who complained had displayed 

possible racial or ethnic bias.  

On the other hand, circuit precedent suggests that a reasonable official could 

have believed the defendants’ alleged conduct did not violate § 1985(3). In 

Prestige, the plaintiff (an ethnic-themed nightclub) filed § 1981 and § 1985(3) race 

discrimination claims against public officials and private citizen for conspiring to 

shut down the nightclub. The plaintiff alleged that the private citizen made racially 

charged comments about the club’s clientele, and then the public officials acted at 
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the racist private citizen’s direction. 2010 WL 680905, at *2. The district court 

dismissed the § 1981 claim because the corporation operating the club had no 

racial identity under Arlington Heights and could not pursue claims for racial 

animus directed at its clientele, id. at *7-8, and dismissed the § 1985(3) claims 

because the record showed that neighbors had complained about noise and code 

violations. Id. at *8, n. 10. This Court affirmed. See also Post, 6420.  

In sum, a reasonable official could believe that § 1985(3) does not prohibit 

public officials from communicating with private citizens and investigating private 

citizen complaints about the unlawful operations of an ethnic-themed nightclub, 

even where the citizen made racially charged comments about the club. 

Accordingly, qualified immunity is appropriate.  

d. Policy concerns favor granting qualified immunity.  

 
Despite acknowledging that “plaintiffs suing public officials for 

discrimination in mixed motive cases have a high hurdle to clear in order to avoid 

summary judgment on the basis of qualified immunity,” the district court preferred 

to resolve that defense “after the benefit of discovery.” (R[96]—17-18). Two 

public policy considerations favor granting qualified immunity before discovery. 

See Crawford-El v. Britton, 523 U.S. 574, 606 (1998) (Rhenquist, C.J., dissenting) 

(“In crafting our qualified immunity doctrine, we have always considered the 

public policy implications of our decisions.”).  
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First, “[the] driving force behind creation of qualified immunity doctrine 

was a desire to ensure that insubstantial claims against government officials [will] 

be resolved prior to discovery.” Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 232-33 (2009) 

(citations omitted). Accordingly, this Court has applied Foy at the 12(b)(6) stage if 

the record shows that defendants had mixed motives. Wall-DeSousa v. Fla. Dep't 

of Highway Safety & Motor Vehicles, 691 F. App’x 584 (11th Cir. 2017) (granting 

qualified immunity at 12(b)(6) stage under Foy because record showed mixed 

motives). In Wall-DeSousa, the plaintiffs were a same-sex couple who obtained 

driver licenses indicating their married names. At the time, Florida law did not 

recognize same sex marriages, so the defendants issued a letter to the plaintiffs 

revoking the licenses based on that state law. The defendants attached the letter to 

their motion to dismiss based on qualified immunity, and this Court held that 

qualified immunity was appropriate under Foy because the revocation letter 

showed at least one lawful motive (i.e. enforcing Florida law). See also Prestige 

(dismissing § 1985(3) claim at 12(b)(6) stage because license revocation letter 

showed defendants were concerned about noise complaints and other code 

violations).  

Like in Wall-Desouza, applying Foy at the 12(b)(6) stage is appropriate here 

because the record shows lawful motives: (i.e. neighbor complaints, code 

violations, public safety concerns, and unpermitted change of use under the zoning 
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code). In fact, applying Foy here is especially justified because the prior litigation 

creates a robust record for the Court’s review, including the revocation letter and 

the ZBA hearing where Jewett, Baker, Brown, and Adams discussed the 

motivations behind their actions.  

Second, this case involves public safety. As Foy recognized, “[f]or many 

public servants, a failure to act can have severe consequences for the citizenry,” 

and those officials should be able to do their jobs without “being intimidated by the 

threat of lawsuits which jeopardize the official and his family’s welfare 

personally.” Id. at 1534. In Gray v. Derderian, 400 F. Supp. 2d 415 (D.R.I. 2005), 

where the district court denied the public officials’ motion to dismiss for 

“permitting dangerous overcrowding” and failing to “enforce the laws governing 

the legal use of pyrotechnics”, the court explained: 

Plaintiffs allege that police officer Anthony Bettencourt failed to 

enforce occupancy restrictions at The Station [nightclub], permitting 

dangerous overcrowding, and that he failed to enforce the laws 

governing the legal use of pyrotechnics. Denis Larocque allegedly 

failed to adequately inspect The Station for safety violations and 

failed to enforce a myriad of fire safety laws and standards. These 

laws and regulations were all enacted in order to ensure the safety of 

the general public. These laws are designed to prevent fire or mitigate 

its impact in public places. It is logical that violations of these laws 

and regulations would result in an increased possibility of fire and 

increased hazard to the general public. By definition, fire is a 

foreseeable consequence of a violation of a fire prevention regulation. 

Plaintiffs' allegations against Bettencourt, Larocque and the Town, if 

proven, are sufficient to support a finding of proximate cause, and 

support a theory of liability against Defendants.. 
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Id. at 431. See also Gregory v. Ng, No. RG 16843631, 2018 WL 11241339, at *8 

(Cal.Super. May 02, 2018) (holding that City may be liable for alleged failure to 

inspect warehouse-turned-nightclub’s fire safety violations in Ghost Ship fire); 

Associated Press article, supra (explaining that City settled Ghost Ship litigation 

for over $30 million based on City’s alleged failure to inspect warehouse-turned-

nightclub’s fire safety violations). Gray and Ghost Ship show that public officials 

and entities can be held liable for not enforcing fire safety codes at nightclubs 

where overcrowding and the use of pyrotechnics leads to the death of a significant 

number of patrons. Indeed, during the ZBA hearing, the County cited the Ghost 

Ship fire and Jewett cited the Station Nightclub fire as justification for inspecting 

and taking enforcement actions against Sheba. (R[27-1]—25, 48-50). 

Let’s be clear what denying qualified immunity here really means: public 

officials must turn a blind eye to citizen complaints about serious public safety 

concerns for fear that the citizen may harbor racial animus. But “[t]he viability of a 

democratic government requires that the channels of communication between 

citizens and their public officials remain open and unimpeded.” Reichardt v. Flynn, 

823 A.2d 566, 572 (Md. 2003). Denying qualified immunity would chill 

communications between public officials and citizens, thereby threatening public 
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safety. Public officials should not have to choose between facing liability for 

enforcing fire codes and liability for not enforcing them.  

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons discussed above, this Court should reverse the district 

court’s judgment and dismiss this case with prejudice.  

Respectfully submitted this 13th day of October, 2021. 
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